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A rapid transit railroad may apply to FRA 
for a waiver of any FRA regulations. See 49 
CFR part 211. FRA will seek FTA’s views 
whenever a rapid transit operation petitions 
FRA for a waiver of its safety rules. In 
granting or denying any such waiver, FRA 
will make clear whether its rules do not 
apply to any segments of the operation so 
that it is clear where FTA’s rules do apply. 

EXTRAORDINARY REMEDIES 

While civil penalties are the primary en-
forcement tool under the federal railroad 
safety laws, more extreme measures are 
available under certain circumstances. FRA 
has authority to issue orders directing com-
pliance with the Federal Railroad Safety 
Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation 
Act, the older safety statutes, or regulations 
issued under any of those statutes. See 45 
U.S.C. 437(a) and (d), and 49 App. U.S.C. 
1808(a). Such an order may issue only after 
notice and opportunity for a hearing in ac-
cordance with the procedures set forth in 49 
CFR part 209, subpart C. FRA inspectors also 
have the authority to issue a special notice 
requiring repairs where a locomotive or 
freight car is unsafe for further service or 
where a segment of track does not meet the 
standards for the class at which the track is 
being operated. Such a special notice may be 
appealed to the regional director and the 
FRA Administrator. See 49 CFR part 216, 
subpart B. 

FRA may, through the Attorney General, 
also seek injunctive relief in federal district 
court to restrain violations or enforce rules 
issued under the railroad safety laws. See 45 
U.S.C. 439 and 49 App. U.S.C. 1810. 

FRA also has the authority to issue, after 
notice and an opportunity for a hearing, an 
order prohibiting an individual from per-
forming safety-sensitive functions in the rail 
industry for a specified period. This disquali-
fication authority is exercised under proce-
dures found at 49 CFR part 209, subpart D. 

Criminal penalties are available for know-
ing violations of 49 U.S.C. 5104(b), or for will-
ful or reckless violations of the Federal haz-
ardous materials transportation law or a 
regulation issued under that law. See 49 
U.S.C. Chapter 51, and 49 CFR 209.131, 133. 
The Accident Reports Act, 45 U.S.C. 39, also 
contains criminal penalties. 

Perhaps FRA’s most sweeping enforcement 
tool is its authority to issue emergency safe-
ty orders ‘‘where an unsafe condition or 
practice, or a combination of unsafe condi-
tions or practices, or both, create an emer-
gency situation involving a hazard of death 
or injury to persons * * *’’ 45 U.S.C. 432(a). 
After its issuance, such an order may be re-
viewed in a trial-type hearing. See 49 CFR 
211.47 and 216.21 through 216.27. The emer-
gency order authority is unique because it 
can be used to address unsafe conditions and 
practices whether or not they contravene an 

existing regulatory or statutory require-
ment. Given its extraordinary nature, FRA 
has used the emergency order authority 
sparingly. 

[53 FR 52920, Dec. 29, 1988, as amended at 63 
FR 11619, Mar. 10, 1998; 64 FR 62864, Nov. 17, 
1999; 65 FR 42544, July 10, 2000; 69 FR 30592, 
May 28, 2004; 71 FR 77295, Dec. 26, 2006; 72 FR 
51196, Sept. 6, 2007; 73 FR 79701, Dec. 30, 2008; 
77 FR 24418, Apr. 24, 2012] 

APPENDIX B TO PART 209—FEDERAL 
RAILROAD ADMINISTRATION GUIDE-
LINES FOR INITIAL HAZARDOUS MA-
TERIALS ASSESSMENTS 

These guidelines establish benchmarks to 
be used in determining initial civil penalty 
assessments for violations of the Hazardous 
Materials Regulations (HMR). The guideline 
penalty amounts reflect the best judgment of 
the FRA Office of Safety Assurance and 
Compliance (RRS) and of the Safety Law Di-
vision of the Office of Chief Counsel (RCC) on 
the relative severity of the various viola-
tions routinely encountered by FRA inspec-
tors on a scale of amounts up to the max-
imum $75,000 penalty, except the maximum 
civil penalty is $175,000 if the violation re-
sults in death, serious illness or severe in-
jury to any person, or substantial destruc-
tion of property, and a minimum $450 pen-
alty applies to a violation related to train-
ing. (49 U.S.C. 5123) Unless otherwise speci-
fied, the guideline amounts refer to average 
violations, that is, violations involving a 
hazardous material with a medium level of 
hazard, and a violator with an average com-
pliance history. In an ‘‘average violation,’’ 
the respondent has committed the acts due 
to a failure to exercise reasonable care under 
the circumstances (‘‘knowingly’’). For some 
sections, the guidelines contain a breakdown 
according to relative severity of the viola-
tion, for example, the guidelines for shipping 
paper violations at 49 CFR §§ 172.200–.203. All 
penalties in these guidelines are subject to 
change depending upon the circumstances of 
the particular case. The general duty sec-
tions, for example §§ 173.1 and 174.7, are not 
ordinarily cited as separate violations; they 
are primarily used as explanatory citations 
to demonstrate applicability of a more spe-
cific section where applicability is otherwise 
unclear. 

FRA believes that infractions of the regu-
lations that lead to personal injury are espe-
cially serious; this is directly in line with 
Department of Transportation policy that 
hazardous materials are only safe for trans-
portation when they are securely sealed in a 
proper package. (Some few containers, such 
as tank cars of carbon dioxide, are designed 
to vent off excess internal pressure. They are 
exceptions to the ‘‘securely sealed’’ rule.) 
‘‘Personal injury’’ has become somewhat of a 
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term of art, especially in the fields of occu-
pational safety and of accident reporting. To 
avoid confusion, these penalty guidelines use 
the notion of ‘‘human contact’’ to trigger 
penalty aggravation. In essence, any contact 
by a hazardous material on a person during 
transportation is a per se injury and proof 
will not be required regarding the extent of 
the physical contact or its consequences. 
When a violation of the Federal hazardous 
material transportation law, an order issued 
thereunder, the Hazardous Materials Regula-
tions or a special permit, approval, or order 
issued under those regulations results in 
death, serious illness or severe injury to any 
person, or substantial destruction of prop-
erty, a maximum penalty of at least $75,000 
and up to and including $175,000 shall always 
be assessed initially. 

These guidelines are a preliminary assess-
ment tool for FRA’s use. They create no 
rights in any party. FRA is free to vary from 
them when it deems appropriate and may 
amend them from time to time without prior 
notice. Moreover, FRA is not bound by any 
amount it initially proposes should litiga-
tion become necessary. In fact, FRA reserves 
the express authority to amend the NOPV to 
seek a penalty of up to $75,000 for each viola-
tion, and up to $175,000 for any violation re-
sulting in death, serious illness or severe in-
jury to any person, or substantial destruc-
tion of property, at any time prior to 
issuance of an order. FRA periodically 
makes minor updates and revisions to these 
guidelines, and the most current version 
may be found on FRA’s Web site at http:// 
www.fra.dot.gov. 

CIVIL PENALTY ASSESSMENT GUIDELINES 
[As of December 26, 2006] 

Emergency 
orders 

Guideline 
amount 1 

EO16 ......................... Penalties for violations of EO16 vary depending on the circumstances ............................. Varies. 
EO17 ......................... Penalties for violations of EO17 vary depending on the circumstances ............................. Varies. 

Failure to file annual report .................................................................................................. $5,000. 
EO23 ......................... Penalties for violations of EO23 vary depending on the circumstances ............................. Varies. 

1 Any person who violates an emergency order issued under the authority of 49 U.S.C. Ch. 201 is subject to a civil penalty of 
at least $650 and not more than $25,000 per violation, except that where a grossly negligent violation or a pattern of repeated 
violations has created an imminent hazard of death or injury to persons, or has caused a death or injury, a penalty not to exceed 
$105,000 per violation may be assessed. Each day that the violation continues is a separate offense. 49 U.S.C. 21301; 28 
U.S.C. 2461, note. 

49 CFR section Description Guideline amount 2 

PART 107—HAZARDOUS MATERIALS PROGRAM PROCEDURES 

107.608 .............................................. Failure to register or to renew registration. (Note: 
registration—or renewal—is mitigation.).

1,500. 

107.620(d) .......................................... Failure to show records on proper request .......... 2,000. 
Deliberate attempt to hide records-considerable 

aggravation possible.
Varies. 

PART 171—GENERAL REGULATIONS 

171.2(a), (b), (c), (e), (f) ..................... General duty sections—may be cited in support 
of another, more specific citation to the actual 
regulatory section violated.

171.2(d) .............................................. Offering or accepting a hazardous material 
(hazmat or HM) without being registered.

1,500. 

171.2(g) .............................................. Representing (marking, certifying, selling, or of-
fering) a packaging as meeting regulatory 
specification when it does not.

8,000. 

171.2(i) ............................................... Certifying that a hazardous material is offered for 
transportation in commerce in accordance with 
the regulations (packaged, marked, labeled, 
etc.) when it is not. A more specific citation to 
the actual underlying regulation violated 
should be used instead of this section, or ac-
companying this section, if possible.

5,000. 

171.2(j) ............................................... Representing (by marking or otherwise) that a 
container or package for transportation of a 
hazardous material is safe, certified, or in 
compliance with the regulations when it is not.

8,000. 

171.2(k) .............................................. Representing, marking, etc. for the presence of 
HM when no HM is present. (Mitigation re-
quired for shipments smaller than a carload, 
e.g., single drum penalty is $1,000.) 

2,000. 
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49 CFR section Description Guideline amount 2 

171.2(l) ............................................... Tampering with (altering, removing, defacing, or 
destroying) any marking, label, placard, or de-
scription on a document required by hazmat 
law or regulations; unlawfully tampering with a 
package, container, motor vehicle, rail car, air-
craft, or vessel used for the transportation of 
hazardous materials.

Varies—considerable aggravation 
possible. 

171.2(m) ............................................. Falsifying or altering an exemption, approval, 
registration, or other grant of authority issued 
under hazmat regulations. Offering or trans-
porting a hazmat under an altered exemption, 
approval, registration, or other grant of author-
ity without the consent of the issuing authority. 
Representing, marking, certifying, or selling a 
packaging or container under an altered ex-
emption, approval, registration, or other grant 
of authority.

Varies—considerable aggravation 
possible. 

171.12 ................................................ Import shipments—Importer not providing ship-
per and forwarding agent with U.S. require-
ments. Cannot be based on inference.

4,000. 

Import shipments—Failure to certify by shipper 
or forwarding agent.

2,000. 

171.15 ................................................ Failure to provide immediate notice of certain 
hazardous materials incidents.

6,000. 

171.16 ................................................ Failure to file incident report (form DOT 5800.1). 
(Multiple failures will aggravate the penalty.).

4,000. 

PART 172—SHIPPING PAPERS 

172.200–.203 ...................................... Offering hazardous materials for transportation when the material is not properly de-
scribed on the shipping paper as required by §§ 172.200—.203. (The ‘‘shipping paper’’ 
is the document tendered by the shipper/offeror to the carrier. The original shipping 
paper contains the shipper’s certification at § 172.204.) Considerable aggravation of 
penalties under these sections is possible, particularly in case involving undeclared 
hazmat. 

—Undeclared shipment: offering a hazardous 
material without shipping papers, package 
markings, labels, or placards (see also 
§§ 172.300, 172.400, 172.500 for specific re-
quirements).

15,000. 

—Information on the shipping paper is wrong to 
the extent that it caused or materially contrib-
uted to a reaction by emergency responders 
that aggravated the situation or caused or ma-
terially contributed to improper handling by the 
carrier that led to or materially contributed to a 
product release.

15,000. 

—Total lack of hazardous materials information 
on shipping paper. (Some shipping names 
alone contain sufficient information to reduce 
the guideline to the next lower level, but there 
may be such dangerous products that aggra-
vation needs to be considered.).

7,500. 

—Some information is present, but the missing 
or improper description could cause mis-
handling by the carrier or a delay or error in 
emergency response.

5,000. 

—When the improper description is not likely to 
cause serious problem (technical defect).

2,000. 

—Shipping paper includes a hazardous material 
description and no hazardous material is 
present. (Technically, this is also a violation of 
§ 171.2(k); it is presented here as a conven-
ience.).

7,500. 

Failure to include emergency response information is covered at §§ 172.600–604; while 
the normal unit of violation for shipping papers is the whole document, failure to provide 
emergency response information is a separate violation. 

172.201(d) .......................................... Failure to put emergency response telephone 
number on shipping paper.

4,000. 

172.201(e) .......................................... Failure to retain shipping paper for required pe-
riod (1 year if carrier, 2 years if offeror).

7,500. 

172.204 .............................................. Offeror’s failure to certify ...................................... 2,000. 
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49 CFR section Description Guideline amount 2 

172.205 .............................................. Hazardous waste manifest. (Applies only to de-
fects in the Hazardous Waste Manifest form 
[EPA Form 8700–22 and 8700–22A]; shipping 
paper defects are cited and penalized under 
§ 172.200–.203.).

Parallel the penalties for §§ 172.200– 
.203, depending on circumstances. 

Marking: 

172.301 ................................ Failure to mark a non-bulk package as required 
(e.g., no commodity name on a 55-gallon 
drum). (Shipment is the unit of violation.).

1,000. 

172.302 ................................ Failure to follow standards for marking bulk 
packaging.

2,000. 

172.302(a) ............................ ID number missing or in improper location. (The 
guideline is for a portable tank; for smaller 
bulk packages, the guideline should be miti-
gated downward.) 

2,500. 

172.302(b) ............................ Failure to use the correct size of markings. 
(Note: If § 172.326(a) is also cited, it takes 
precedence and § 172.302(b) is not cited. Note 
also: the guideline is for a gross violation of 
marking size—1⁄2″ where 2″ is required—and 
mitigation should be considered for markings 
approaching the required size.) 

2,000. 

172.302(c) ............................ Failure to place exemption number markings on 
bulk package.

2,000. 

172.303 ................................ Prohibited marking. (Package is marked for a hazardous material and contains either an-
other hazardous material or no hazardous material.) 
—The marking is wrong and caused or contrib-

uted to a wrong emergency response.
10,000. 

—Use of a tank car stenciled for one commodity 
to transport another.

5,000. 

—Inconsistent marking; e.g., shipping name and 
ID number do not agree.

5,000. 

—Marked as a hazardous material when pack-
age does not contain a hazardous material.

2,000. 

172.304 ................................ Obscured marking ................................................ 2,000. 
172.313 ................................ ‘‘Inhalation Hazard’’ not marked ........................... 2,500. 
172.322 ................................ Failure to mark for MARINE POLLUTANT where 

required.
1,500. 

172.325(a) ............................ Improper, or missing, HOT mark for elevated 
temperature material.

1,500. 

172.325(b) ............................ Improper or missing commodity stencil ................ 2,500. 
172.326(a) ............................ Failure to mark a portable tank with the com-

modity name.
2,500. 

Failure to have commodity name visible (‘‘leg-
ible’’) when portable tank is loaded on inter-
modal equipment.

2,500. 

172.326(b) ............................ Owner’s/lessee’s name not displayed .................. 500. 
172.326(c) ............................ Failure to mark portable tank with ID number ..... 2,500. 

Failure to have ID number visible when portable 
tank is loaded on intermodal equipment.

2,500. 

172.330(a)(1)(i) .................... Offering/transporting hazardous material in a 
tank car that does not have the required ID 
number displayed on the car.

2,500. 

172.330(a)(1)(ii) ................... Offering/transporting hazardous material in a 
tank car that does not have the required ship-
ping name or common name stenciled on the 
car. This section ‘‘lists’’ the materials that re-
quire such markings on the tank. For tank car 
marking requirements for molten aluminum 
and molten sulfur, see § 172.325(b).

2,500. 

172.330(c) ............................ Failing to mark tank car as NON-ODORIZED or 
NOT ODORIZED when offering/transporting 
tank car or multi-unit tank car containing 
unodorized LPG.

2,500. 

172.331(b) ............................ Offering bulk packaging other than a portable 
tank, cargo tank, or tank car (e.g., a hopper 
car) not marked with ID number. (E.g., a hop-
per car carrying a hazardous substance, 
where a placard is not required).

2,500. 
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49 CFR section Description Guideline amount 2 

172.332 ................................ Improper display of identification number mark-
ings. Citation of this section and §§ 172.326(c) 
(portable tanks), 172.328 (cargo tanks), or 
172.330 (tank cars) does not create two sepa-
rate violations.

2,000. 

172.334(a) ............................ Displaying ID numbers on a RADIOACTIVE, EX-
PLOSIVES 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, or 1.6, or 
DANGEROUS, or subsidiary hazard placard.

4,000. 

172.334(b) ............................ —Improper display of ID number that caused or 
contributed to a wrong emergency response.

15,000. 

—Improper display of ID number that could 
cause carrier mishandling or minor error in 
emergency response.

5,000. 

—Technical error .................................................. 2,000. 
172.334(f) ............................. Displaying ID number on orange panel not in 

proximity to the placard.
1,500. 

Labeling: 

172.400–.406 ....................... Failure to label properly. (See also § 172.301 re-
garding the marking of packages.).

2,500. 

Placarding: 

172.502 ................................ —Placarded as hazardous material when car 
does not contain a hazardous material.

2,000. 

—Hazardous material is present, but the placard 
does not represent hazard of the contents.

4,000. 

—Display of sign or device that could be con-
fused with regulatory placard. Photograph or 
good, clear description necessary.

2,000. 

172.503 ................................ Improper display of ID number on placards ......... See § 172.334. 

172.504(a) ............................ Failure to placard; affixing or displaying wrong placard. (See also §§ 172.502(a), 
172.504(a), 172.505, 172.512, 172.516, 174.33, 174.59, 174.69; all applicable sections 
should be cited, but the penalty should be set at the amount for the violation most di-
rectly in point.) (Generally, the car is the unit of violation, and penalties vary with the 
number of errors, typically at the rate of $1,000 per placard.) 

—Complete failure to placard ............................... 7,500. 
—One placard missing (add $1,000 per missing 

placard up to a total of three; then use the 
guideline above).

1,000. 

—Complete failure to placard, but only two (2) 
placards are required (e.g., intermediate bulk 
containers [IBCs]).

2,500. 

172.504(b) ............................ Improper use of DANGEROUS placard for mixed 
loads.

5,000. 

172.504(c) ............................ Placarded for wrong hazard class when no 
placard was required due to ‘‘1,001 pound’’ 
exemption.

2,000. 

172.504(e) ............................ Use of placard other than as specified in the table: 

—Improper placard caused or contributed to im-
proper reaction by emergency response forces 
or caused or contributed to improper handling 
by carrier that led to a product release.

15,000. 

—Improper placard that could cause improper 
emergency response or handling by carrier.

5,000. 

—Technical violation ............................................ 2,500. 

172.505 ................................ Improper application of placards for subsidiary 
hazards. (This is in addition to any violation on 
the primary hazard placards.) 

5,000. 
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49 CFR section Description Guideline amount 2 

172.508(a) ............................ Offering hazardous material for rail transportation 
without affixing placards. (The preferred sec-
tion for a total failure to placard is 
§ 172.504(a); only one section should be cited 
to avoid a dual penalty.) (Note also: Persons 
offering hazardous material for rail movement 
must affix placards; if offering for highway 
movement, the placards must be tendered to 
the carrier. § 172.506.) 

7,500. 

One placard missing (per car). (Add $1,000 per 
missing placard up to a total of three; if all 
placards are missing, the guideline above ap-
plies.) 

1,000. 

Placards OK, except they were International 
Maritime Dangerous Goods (IMDG) labels in-
stead of 10″ placards. (Unit of violation is the 
packaging, usually a portable tank.) 

500. 

Placards on Container on Flatcar/Trailer on Flat-
car (TOFC/COFC) units not readily visible. 
(§ 172.516 should be cited).

See § 172.516. 

172.508(b) ............................ Accepting hazardous material for rail transpor-
tation without placards affixed.

5,000. 

172.510(a) ............................ EXPLOSIVES 1.1, EXPLOSIVES 1.2, POISON 
GAS, (Division 2.3, Hazard Zone A), POISON, 
(Division 6.1, Packing Group I, Hazard Zone 
A), or a Division 2.1 material transported in a 
Class DOT 113 tank car, placards displayed 
without square background.

5,000. 

172.512(a) ............................ Improper placarding of freight containers ............ Follow § 172.504 guidelines. 
172.514 ................................ Improper placarding of bulk packaging other than 

a tank car: For the ‘‘exception’’ packages in 
174.514(c). Use the regular placarding sec-
tions for the guideline amounts for larger bulk 
packages.

2,000. 

172.516 ................................ Placard not readily visible, improperly located or 
displayed, or deteriorated. Placard is the unit 
of violation.

1,000. 

—When placards on an intermodal container are 
not visible, for instance, because the container 
is in a well car. Container is the unit of viola-
tion, and, as a matter of enforcement policy, 
FRA accepts the lack of visibility of the end 
placards.

2,000. 

—Note that, while placards on freight containers, portable tanks, or TOFC vehicles may 
be used in lieu of placards on the rail cars, if both are placarded, each must be done 
properly. Thus, for instance, EXPLOSIVES 1.1 placards on intermodal containers do not 
require white square backgrounds, but if the rail car carrying such a container is plac-
arded, the white square background is required on the rail car. 

172.519(b)(4) .................... Improper display of hazard class on placard— 
primary hazard.

2,500. 

Improper display of hazard class on placard— 
secondary hazard.

2,500. 

Emergency Response Information ..... Violations of §§ 172.600–.604 are in addition to shipping paper violations. In citing a car-
rier, if the railroad’s practice is to carry an emergency response (E/R) book or to put the 
E/R information as an attachment to the consist, the unit of violation is generally the 
train (or the consist). ‘‘Telephone number’’ violations are generally best cited against the 
shipper; if against a railroad, there should be proof that the number was given to the rail-
road; that is, the number was on the original shipping document. Considerable aggrava-
tion of the penalties under these sections is possible. 

172.600–.602 ....................... Where improper emergency response informa-
tion has caused an improper reaction from 
emergency forces and the improper response 
has aggravated the situation.

15,000. 

Bad, missing, or improper emergency response 
information that could cause a significant dif-
ference in response.

5,000. 

Bad, missing, or improper emergency response 
information not likely to cause a significant dif-
ference in response.

2,500. 
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172.602(c) ............................ Failure to have emergency response information 
‘‘immediately accessible,’’ resulting in delay or 
confusion in emergency response.

15,000. 

Failure to have emergency response information 
‘‘immediately accessible’’ with no negative ef-
fect on emergency response.

7,500. 

172.604 ................................ Emergency response telephone number.
—Failure to include emergency response tele-

phone number on a shipping paper.
4,000. 

—Listing an unauthorized, incorrect, non-work-
ing, or unmonitored (24 hrs. a day) emergency 
response telephone number on a shipping 
paper.

4,000. 

Training ............................................... NOTE: The statutory minimum penalty for training violations is $450. 

172.702(a) ............................ General failure to train hazardous material em-
ployees.

7,500. 

172.702(b) ............................ Hazardous material employee performing cov-
ered function without training. (Unit of violation 
is the employee.) 

1,000. 

172.704(a) ............................ —Failure to train in a required area: 2,500. 
—General awareness/familiarization; 
—Function-specific; 
—Safety; 
—Security awareness; 
—In-depth security training. 
(Unit of violation is the ‘‘area,’’ per employee. 

For a total failure to train, § 172.702(a) ap-
plies.) 

172.704(c) ............................ Initial and recurrent training. (This section should 
be cited with the relevant substantive section, 
e.g., § 172.702(a), and use penalty provided 
there.) 

Varies. 

172.704(d) ............................ Failure to maintain record of training. (Unit of 
violation is the employee.) 

2,500. 

There is some evidence of training, but no (or in-
adequate) records and the employee dem-
onstrates no or very little knowledge or skills in 
doing the job.

4,000. 

Security: 

172.800 ................................ Total failure to develop security plan. Factors to 
consider are the size of the entity (is it a small 
business?); the type of hazmat handled; and 
the quantities of hazmat handled. Aggravation 
should be considered, for example, if it is a 
large entity that handles significant quantities 
of chlorine or other toxic inhalation hazard 
(TIH) material.

5,000 to 10,000. 

Failure to adhere to the developed security 
plan—considerable aggravation possible. Fac-
tors to consider include size of entity, quan-
tities and types of hazmat handled, number of 
security plan components not complied with.

1,000 to 10,000. 

172.802(a) ............................ Failure to include each required component in 
plan: 

2,000. 

—Personnel security; 
—Unauthorized access; 
—En route security. 
(Unit of violation is the ‘‘area.’’ For a total failure 

to have a security plan, cite § 172.800 and use 
that penalty instead of § 172.802.) 

172.802(b) ............................ Failure to have security plan (or appropriate por-
tions of it) available to implementing employ-
ees. (A failure to have the plan ‘‘in writing’’ is 
treated as a violation of the requirement to 
have a plan and cited under § 172.800, using 
that penalty.) 

5,000. 
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Failure to revise/update the plan. (The require-
ment to revise/update is based on ‘‘changing 
circumstances.’’ Specific, clear, and detailed 
explanations of the circumstances that 
changed will be necessary.) 

5,000. 

Failure to update all copies of the plan to the 
current level (i.e. all copies should be iden-
tical). (As in the tank car quality control area, 
the requirement to conform copies applies only 
to the ‘‘official’’ copies of the plan. Uncon-
trolled (and non-updated) copies of the secu-
rity plan are not a violation if the uncontrolled 
copies are clearly marked as such.) 

5,000. 

172.820(a)–(e) .................................... General failure to perform safety and security 
route analysis.

5,000 to 10,000 

Factors to consider are the size of the railroad 
carrier, and the quantities of hazmat trans-
ported.

172.820(a)–(e) .................................... Partial failure to complete route analysis; failure 
to complete a component of the route analysis.

5,000 

—Compilation of security-sensitive com-
modity data.

—Identification of practicable alternative 
routes.

—Consultation with State, local, and tribal 
officials, as appropriate regarding security 
risks to high-consequence targets along 
or in proximity to a route used by the car-
rier to transport security-sensitive mate-
rials.

—Safety and security route analysis of route 
used.

—Safety and security alternative route anal-
ysis.

172.820(f) ........................................... Failure to complete route analyses within the 
prescribed time frame.

2,000 

172.820(g) .......................................... Failure to include one of the following compo-
nents in safety and security plan.

2,000 

—Procedure for consultation with offerors 
and consignees to minimize storage of se-
curity-sensitive materials incidental to 
movement.

—Measures to limit unauthorized access to 
the materials during storage or delays in 
transit.

—Measures to mitigate risk to population 
centers associated with in-transit storage 
of the materials.

—Measures to be taken in the event of es-
calating threat levels for the materials 
stored in transit.

(Unit of violation is the component. For a total 
failure to have a security plan, cite § 172.800 
and use the penalties provided for that sec-
tion.).

172.820(h) .......................................... Failure to maintain records and make available 
to DOT and DHS authorized officials.

2,000 

172.820(i) ........................................... Failure to use route designated by FRA Asso-
ciate Administrator for Safety.

10,000 

PART 173—SHIPPERS—GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR SHIPMENTS AND PACKAGES 

General: 

173.1 .................................... General duty section applicable to shippers; also 
includes subparagraph (b), the requirement to 
train employees about applicable regulations. 
(Cite the appropriate section in the 172.700– 
704 series for training violations.).

2,000. 

173.9(a) ................................ Early delivery of transport vehicle that has been 
fumigated. (48 hours must have elapsed since 
fumigation.).

5,000. 
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173.9(b) ................................ Failure to display fumigation placard. (Ordinarily 
cited against shipper only, not against rail-
road.).

1,000. 

173.10 .................................. Delivery requirements for gases and for flam-
mable liquids. See also §§ 174.204 and 
174.304.

3,000. 

Preparation of Hazardous Materials for Transportation: 

173.22 .................................. Shipper responsibility: This general duty section 
should ordinarily be cited only to support a 
more specific charge.

See specific section. 

173.22a ................................ Improper use of packagings authorized under 
exemption.

2,500. 

Failure to maintain copy of exemption as re-
quired.

1,000. 

173.24(b)(1) and 173.24(b)(2) and 
173.24(f)(1) and 173.24(f)(1)(ii).

Securing closures: These subsections are the general ‘‘no leak’’ standard for all pack-
agings. Sec. 173.24(b) deals primarily with packaging as a whole, while § 173.24(f) fo-
cuses on closures. Use § 173.31(d) for tank cars, when possible. Cite the sections ac-
cordingly, using both the leak/non-leak criteria and the package size considerations to 
reach the appropriate penalty. Any actual leak will aggravate the guideline by, typi-
cally, 50%; a leak with contact with a human being will aggravate by at least 100%, up 
to the maximum of $75,000, and up to $175,000 if the violation results in death, seri-
ous illness or injury or substantial destruction of property. For intermodal (IM) portable 
tanks and other tanks of that size range, use the tank car penalty amounts, as stated 
in § 173.31. 

—Small bottle or box ............................................ 1,000 
—55-gallon drum .................................................. 2,500 
—Larger container, e.g., IBC; not portable tank 

or tank car..
5,000 

—IM portable tank, cite § 173.24(f) and use the penalty amounts for tank cars: Residue, 
generally, § 173.29(a) and, loaded, § 173.31(d). 

—Residue adhering to outside of package (i.e., 
portable tanks, tank cars, etc.)..

5,000 

—Residue adhering to outside of package (i.e., 
portable tanks, tank cars, etc.).

5,000. 

173.24(c) ............................................ Use of package not meeting specifications, including required stencils and markings. 
The most specific section for the package involved should be cited (see below). The 
penalty guideline should be adjusted for the size of the container. Any actual leak will 
aggravate the guideline by, typically, 50%; a leak with contact with a human being will 
aggravate by at least 100%, up to the maximum of $75,000, and up to $175,000 if the 
violation results in death, serious illness or injury or substantial destruction of property. 

—Small bottle or box. ........................................... 1,000 
—55-gallon drum. ................................................. 2,500 
—Larger container, e.g., IBC; not portable tank 

or tank car, but this section is applicable to a 
hopper car..

5,000 

For more specific sections: Tank cars–§ 173.31(a), portable tanks–§ 173.32, and IM port-
able tanks–§§ 173.32a, 173.32b, and 173.32c. 

—Larger container, e.g., IBC; not portable tank 
or tank car, but this section is applicable to a 
hopper car.

5,000. 

For more specific sections: Tank cars—§ 173.31(a), portable tanks—§ 173.32, and IM 
portable tanks—§§ 173.32a,173.32b, and 173.32c. 

173.24a(a)(3) ....................... Non-bulk packagings: Failure to secure and 
cushion inner packagings.

1,000. 

—Causes leak ...................................................... 5,000. 
—Leak with any contact between product and 

any human being.
15,000. 

173.24a(b) and (d) ............... Non-bulk packagings: Exceeding filling limits ...... 1,000. 
—Causes leak ...................................................... 5,000. 
—Leak with any contact between product and 

any human being.
15,000. 

173.24b(a) ............................ Insufficient outage: 
—<1% ................................................................... 3,000. 
—Causes leak ...................................................... 5,000. 
Outage <5% on PIH material ............................... 5,000. 
—Causes leak ...................................................... 7,500. 
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—Leak with any contact between product and 
any human being.

15,000. 

173.24b(d)(2) ....................... Overloaded to exceed the maximum weight of 
lading marked on the specification plate.

5,000. 

173.26 .................................. Loaded beyond gross weight or capacity as stat-
ed in specification. (Applies only if quantity lim-
itations do not appear in packaging require-
ments of part 173.) (For tank cars, see 
§ 179.13.) For gross weight and capacity re-
quirements, see § 179.13. § 173.26 should be 
the citation for the violation and civil penalty; 
§ 179.13 can be cited as a reference section.

5,000. 

173.28 .................................. Improper reuse, reconditioning, or remanufacture 
of packagings.

1,000. 

173.29(a) .............................. Offering residue tank car for transportation when openings are not tightly closed 
(§ 173.31(d) is also applicable for tank cars). The regulation requires offering ‘‘in the 
same manner as when’’ loaded and may be cited when a car not meeting specifications 
(see § 173.31(a)(1)) is released back into transportation after unloading; same guideline 
amount. Guidelines vary with the type of commodity involved. In addition to the vapor 
pressure factor cited below, the RQ (reportable quantity) is a fair measure of the danger 
of a commodity to the environment. For RQ values ≤10, consider aggravating the pen-
alties below by no less than 50 percent. 

—Hazardous material with insignificant vapor 
pressure and without classification as ‘‘poison’’ 
or ‘‘inhalation hazard.’’.

2,000. 

—With actual leak ................................................ 5,000. 
—With leak allowing the product to contact any 

human being.
15,000. 

—Hazardous material with vapor pressure (es-
sentially any gas or compressed gas) and/or 
with classification as ‘‘poison’’ or ‘‘inhalation 
hazard.’’.

5,000. 

—With actual leak ................................................ 7,500. 
—With leak allowing the product (or fumes or va-

pors) to contact any human being. (In the case 
of fumes, the ‘‘contact’’ must be substantial.).

15,000. 

—Where only violation is failure to secure a pro-
tective housing, e.g., the covering for the 
gaging device.

1,000. 

173.30 .................................. A general duty section that should be cited with the explicit statement of the duty. 

173.31(a)(1) ......................... Use of a tank car not meeting specifications and the ‘‘Bulk packaging’’ authorization in 
Column 8 of the § 172.101 Hazardous Materials Table reference is: 

§ 173.240 .............................................................. 1,000. 
§ 173.241 .............................................................. 2,500. 
§ 173.242 .............................................................. 5,000. 
§ 173.243 .............................................................. 5,000. 
§ 173.244 .............................................................. 7,500. 
§ 173.245 .............................................................. 7,500. 
§ 173.247 .............................................................. 1,000. 
§ 173.249 .............................................................. 7,500. 
§ 173.314 .............................................................. 5,000. 
§ 173.315 .............................................................. 5,000. 
§ 173.319 .............................................................. 5,000. 
§ 173.320 .............................................................. 5,000 
§ 173.323 .............................................................. 7,500. 
—Minor defect not affecting the ability of the 

package to contain a hazardous material, e.g., 
no chain on a bottom outlet closure plug.

500. 

—Defect of greater importance, e.g., safety valve 
tested, but test date not stenciled on valve.

1,000. 

—Tank meets specification, but specification is 
not stenciled on car. § 179.1(e) implies that 
only the builder has the duty here, but it is the 
presence of the stencil that gives the shipper 
the right to rely on the builder. (See 
§ 173.22(a)(3).).

1,000. 
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—Tank car not stenciled according to Appendix 
C of the Tank Car Manual. The sub-reference 
is to § 179.22 which requires each tank car to 
be marked in accordance with Appendix C of 
the Tank Car Manual. For example, Appendix 
3.03(a)(5), requires marking of the tank ‘‘NOT 
FOR FLAMMABLE LIQUIDS’’ or ‘‘NOT FOR 
FLAMMABLE OR POISONOUS LIQUIDS.’’.

2,500. 

173.31(a)(2) ......................... Tank cars and appurtenances used for a mate-
rial not authorized on the certificate of con-
struction (or by addendum on Association of 
American Railroads (AAR) form R–1).

7,500. 

173.31(a)(3) ......................... Filling a tank car overdue for a periodic inspec-
tion with a hazardous material and then offer-
ing it for transportation. (Note: Offering a res-
idue car, overdue for inspection, is not a viola-
tion; neither is filling the car—so long as it is 
not offered for transportation.) (Adjust penalty 
if less than one month or more than one year 
overdue.).

7,500. 

173.31(a)(4) ......................... Use of tank car without air brake support attach-
ments welded to pads..

5,000. 

173.31(a)(5) ......................... Use of a tank car with a self-energized manway 
located below the liquid level of the lading.

15,000. 

173.31(b)(1) ......................... Use of DOT-specification tank car, or any tank 
car used for transportation of a hazardous ma-
terial, without shelf couplers.

10,000. 

—Against a carrier, cite § 174.3 and this section. 6,000. 
173.31(b)(2) ......................... Tank car with nonreclosing pressure relief device 

used to transport Class 2 gases, Class 3 or 4 
liquids, or Division 6.1 liquids, PG I or II.

7,500. 

Tank car has a nonreclosing pressure relief de-
vice and the wrong pressure is stenciled on 
the tank. Cite this section where the standard 
in § 179.22(a) is not met and the respondent is 
other than the builder or manufacturer.

1,000. 

Where either the rupture disc is unmarked for 
pressure or manufacturer name or is marked 
but is of the wrong pressure. Cite this section 
for a violation of § 179.156(h) against other 
than the builder or manufacturer.

5,000. 

173.31(b)(3) ......................... Use of a tank car for the transportation of a hazardous material without the required 
tank-head protection. See paragraphs (b)(3)(iii) and (iv) for compliance periods. 

—Class 2 .............................................................. 10,000. 
—Tank car constructed from aluminum or nickel 

plate.
7,500. 

—Against a carrier, cite § 174.3 and this section 6,000. 

173.31(b)(4) ......................... Use of a tank car for the transportation of a 
Class 2 material without the required thermal 
protection. See paragraphs (b)(4)(i) for compli-
ance periods.

10,000. 

173.31(b)(5) ......................... Use of a tank car for the transportation of a haz-
ardous material without the required bottom- 
discontinuity protection. See the paragraph for 
compliance periods.

5,000. 

173.31(b)(6) ......................... Failure to submit a progress report to the FRA ... 2,500. 
173.31(c) .............................. Use of a tank car with an incorrect tank test 

pressure.
10,000. 
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173.31(d) .............................. Offering a tank car for transportation with a haz-
ardous material, or a residue of a hazardous 
material, that is not in proper condition or that 
is unsafe for transportation. Sections 173.24(b) 
and (f) establish a ‘‘no-leak’’ design standard, 
and 173.31 imposes that standard on oper-
ations. In addition to the vapor pressure factor 
cited below, the RQ (reportable quantity) is a 
fair measure of the danger of a commodity to 
the environment. For RQ values ≤10, consider 
aggravating the penalties below by no less 
than 50 percent. The unit of violation is the 
car, aggravated if necessary for truly egre-
gious condition.

5,000. 

Loaded car: 

—Failure to inspect the tank car, service equip-
ment, or markings prior to offering the car for 
transportation.: If the failure to inspect resulted 
in a release of product, the appropriate penalty 
amount below applies.

5,000. 

—With actual leak of product ............................... 10,000. 
—With actual leak allowing the product (or 

fumes or vapors) to contact any human being. 
(With safety vent, be careful because carrier 
might be at fault).

15,000. 

—Minor violation, e.g., bottom outlet cap loose 
on tank car of molten sulfur (because product 
is a solid when shipped).

1,000. 

Residue car: (The penalties are the same as in 173.29(a).) 

Offering residue tank car for transportation when openings are not tightly closed 
(§ 173.29(a) is also applicable for tank cars) Guidelines vary with the type of commodity 
involved: 

—Hazardous material with insignificant vapor 
pressure and without classification as ‘‘poison’’ 
or ‘‘inhalation hazard.’’.

2,000. 

—With actual leak ................................................ 5,000. 
—With leak allowing the product to contact any 

human being.
15,000. 

—Hazardous material with vapor pressure 
(esentially any gas or compressed gas) and/or 
with classification as ‘‘poison’’ or ‘‘inhalation 
hazard.’’.

5,000. 

—With actual leak ................................................ 7,500. 
—With leak allowing the product (or fumes or va-

pors) to contact any human being. (In the case 
of ‘‘fumes,’’ the ‘‘contact’’ must be substantial.).

15,000. 

Whether loaded or residue: 

—Where the only violation is the failure to se-
cure a protective housing, e.g., the covering 
for the gaging device.

1,000. 

—Where ‘‘other conditions’’ than a loose closure 
make a tank car not ‘‘in proper condition for 
transportation’’ (e.g., loose ladders, seals 
thrown into safety valves, etc.).

2,500 (Varies to account for serious-
ness). 

173.31(e)(1) ......................... Tank car with interior heating coils used to trans-
port Division 2.3 or Division 6.1, PG I, based 
on inhalation toxicity.

7,500. 

173.31(e)(2) ......................... Use of a tank car for a material poisonous by in-
halation that does not meet the minimum 
specification i.e., 300 pound tank test pres-
sure, head protection, and a metal jacket.) 
See the paragraph for the compliance dates.

10,000. 
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173.31(f) ............................... Use of a tank car for a ‘‘listed’’ hazardous sub-
stance that does not meet the minimum speci-
fication (i.e., 200 pound tank test pressure, 
head protection, and a metal jacket.): See the 
paragraph for the compliance dates and 
§ 173.31(f)(2) for the list of hazardous sub-
stances.

5,000. 

173.31(g)(1) ......................... Unloading a tank car without securing access to 
the track to prevent entry by other rail equip-
ment. Derails, lined and blocked switches, or 
other equipment that provides equivalent level 
of security is acceptable.

4,000. 

173.31(g)(2) ......................... Unloading a tank car without caution signs prop-
erly displayed. (See Part 218, Subpart B).

2,000. 

173.31(g)(3) ......................... Unloading without brakes set and/or wheels 
blocked. (The enforcement standard, as per 
1995 Hazardous Materials Technical Resolu-
tion Committee, is that sufficient handbrakes 
must be applied on one or more cars to pre-
vent movement and each car with a hand-
brake set must be blocked in both directions. 
The unloading facility must make a determina-
tion on how many brakes to set.).

—No brakes set, no wheels blocked, or fewer 
brakes set/wheels blocked than facility’s oper-
ating plan.

5,000. 

—No brakes set, but wheels blocked .................. 3,000. 
—Brakes set, but wheels not blocked .................. 4,000. 

173.32(a)(1) ......................... Using a portable tank for transportation of haz-
ardous materials, when tank does not meet 
regulatory requirements. (For loose closures or 
leaks on portable tanks use 173.24.).

5,000. 

173.32(a)(2) ......................... Filling and offering portable tank when periodic 
test or inspection overdue.

5,000. 

Gases; Preparation and Packaging: 

173.314(c) ............................ Compressed gas loaded in excess of filling den-
sity (same basic concept as insufficient out-
age).

6,000. 

173.314(e) through (o) ......... Failure to comply with a special requirement for 
a compressed gas.

5,000. 

PART 174—CARRIAGE BY RAIL 

General Requirements: 

174.3 .................................... Acceptance of improperly prepared shipment. This general duty section shall be accom-
panied by a citation to the specific section violated. 

174.9 .................................... Failure to properly inspect a rail car containing a 
hazardous material when accepted for trans-
portation or placed in a train: The carrier shall 
inspect the rail car, at ground level, for re-
quired markings, labels, placards, securement 
of closures and leakage. The inspection may 
be performed in conjunction with the inspec-
tions required under parts 215 and 232. This 
requirement will not ‘‘trigger’’ an inspection 
and thereby require a train to be stopped. For 
example, in run-through train operations, the 
train crew of the receiving railroad simply as-
sumes responsibility for the train from the de-
livering crew. Acceptance of responsibility in-
cludes the right to receive a penalty action for 
transporting a rail car with a non-complying 
condition. Note also that the presence of a 
non-complying condition by itself does not 
prove that there was a failure to inspect. See 
also § 174.50 for violations against the carrier 
for loose (visible from ground level) closures 
on cars.

For loaded car 5,000. 
For residue car 2,000. 

174.14 .................................. Failure to expedite: Violation of ‘‘48-hour rule.’’ ... 2,500. 
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General Operating Requirements ...... This subpart (subpart B) of part 174 has two sections referring to shipment documenta-
tion: § 174.24 relating to accepting documents, and § 174.26 relating to movement docu-
ments in the possession of the train crew. Only the most relevant section should be 
cited. In most cases, the unit of violation is the shipment, although where a unified con-
sist is used to give notice to the crew, there is some justification for making it the train, 
especially where the discrepancy was generated using automated data processing and 
the error is repetitious. 

174.24(a) .............................. Accepting hazardous material shipment without 
properly prepared shipping paper. (The car-
rier’s duty extends only to the document re-
ceived, that is, a shipment of hazardous mate-
rial in a non-placarded transport vehicle with a 
shipping paper showing other than a haz-
ardous material is not a violation against the 
carrier unless knowledge of the contents of the 
vehicle is proved. Likewise, receipt of a tank 
car placarded for Class 3 with a shipping 
paper indicating a flammable liquid does not 
create a carrier violation if the car, in fact, con-
tains a corrosive. On the other hand, receipt of 
a placarded trailer with a shipping paper listing 
only FAK (‘‘freight-all-kinds’’), imposes a duty 
on the carrier to inquire further and to reject 
the shipment if it is improperly billed.) 

—Improper hazardous material information that 
could cause delay or error in emergency re-
sponse.

7,500. 

—Total absence of hazardous material informa-
tion.

5,000. 

—Technical errors, not likely to cause problems, 
especially with emergency response.

1,000. 

—Minor errors not relating to hazardous material 
emergency response, e.g., not listing an ex-
emption number and the exemption is not one 
affecting emergency response.

500. 

Failure to include emergency response information is covered at §§ 172.600–172.604; 
while the normal unit of violation for movement documents is the whole document, fail-
ure to provide emergency response information is a separate violation. 

174.24(b) .............................. Failure to retain shipping papers for one year. 
(Variation over a wide range is not unusual, 
depending upon circumstances.).

7,500. 

174.26(a) .............................. Train crew does not have a document indicating 
position in train of each rail car containing a 
hazardous material. Routinely aggravate by 
50% for Poison Gas, 2.3, and Explosives, 1.1 
and 1.2. (Train is the unit of violation—this is 
generally going to be the consist list for a 
train.).

6,000. 

Train crew has documents described above but 
they have not updated the document to ac-
count for delivery or pickup of car or cars. 
Penalty amount may vary depending on the 
number of cars not listed or out of place, the 
number of places the cars are off, the type of 
commodity in the car, and the potential effects 
on safe handling of the cars or emergency re-
sponse. (Each failure to update is a separate 
unit of violation—if the crew picked up one cut 
of cars and failed to update the document, that 
would be one unit of violation. The ‘‘update’’ 
requirement only matures when the crew has 
placed the cars into the train—or removed 
them from the train—re-laced the air hoses, 
and are ready to depart.).

2,000 to 4,000. 
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174.26(b) .............................. Improper paperwork in possession of train crew. (Shipment is unit of violation, although 
there is justification for making it the train if a unified consist [e.g. one that shows both 
train car order and hazmat information] is used to carry this information and the violation 
is a pattern one throughout all, or almost all, of the hazardous material shipments. For 
intermodal traffic, ‘‘shipment’’ can mean the container or trailer—e.g., a UPS trailer with 
several non-disclosed hazardous material packages would be one unit.) 

—Information on the document possessed by 
the train crew is wrong to the extent that it 
caused or materially contributed to a reaction 
by emergency responders that aggravated the 
situation or caused or materially contributed to 
improper handling by the carrier that led to or 
materially contributed to a product release.

15,000. 

—Information is present and wrong, but without 
adverse emergency response effect (e.g. in-
significant error in shipping name for the 
hazmat; name is incorrect but the emergency 
response would be the same).

3,000. 

—Total lack of hazardous material information 
on movement document. (Some shipping 
names alone contain sufficient information to 
reduce the guideline to the next lower level, 
but there may be such dangerous products 
that aggravation needs to be considered.).

7,500. 

—Some information is present but the error(s) 
could cause mishandling by the carrier or a 
delay or error in emergency response. In-
cludes missing RESIDUE description required 
by § 172.203(e)(2).

5,000. 

—Improper information, but the hazardous mate-
rial are small shipments (e.g., UPS moves) 
and PG III (e.g., the ‘‘low hazard’’ material al-
lowed in TOFC/COFC service without an ex-
emption since HM–197).

3,000. 

—Lack of emergency response phone number ... 4,000. 
—Technical defect or minor error not likely to 

cause delay or error in emergency response 
or carrier handling.

500–1,000. 

174.50 .................................. Forwarding a bulk packaging (e.g. a tank car) 
that no longer conforms to the hazmat regula-
tions without first repairing the defect. This in-
cludes such non-conforming conditions as 
loose closures visible from ground level (e.g. 
loose bottom outlet caps), improper stenciling 
or marking.

For loaded car 5,000. 
For residue car 2,000. 

—Forwarding a leaking, or non-conforming non- 
bulk package containing a hazardous material 
without repair or over-packing.

5,000. 

—Forwarding a leaking bulk package beyond the 
movement ‘‘as necessary to reduce or to elimi-
nate an immediate threat * * *.’’ Consider 
mitigation for low hazard HM (e.g., HOT) and 
for bulk packages smaller than tank cars.

10,000. 

—Loss of product resulted in human contact be-
cause of improper carrier handling.

15,000. 

—Failure to obtain movement approval from the 
FRA for the transportation of a bulk packaging 
that no longer conforms to the regulations.

7,500. 

—Failure to follow directives in a movement ap-
proval.

5,000. 

—Failure to report corrective actions (or any 
other reporting requirement in the movement 
approval).

5,000. 

General Handling and Loading Requirements: 
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174.55 .................................. Failure to block and brace as prescribed. (See also §§ 174.61, 174.63, 174.101, 
174.112, 174.115; where these more specific sections apply, cite them.) Note: The regu-
latory requirement is that hazardous material packages be loaded and securely blocked 
and braced to prevent the packages from changing position, falling or sliding into each 
other. If the load is tight and secure, pieces of lumber or other material may not be nec-
essary to achieve the ‘‘tight load’’ requirement. 

—General failure to block and brace ................... 5,000. 
—Inadequate blocking and bracing (an attempt 

was made but blocking/bracing was insuffi-
cient).

2,500. 

—Inadequate blocking and bracing leading to a 
leak.

7,500. 

—Inadequate blocking and bracing leading to a 
leak and human being contact.

15,000. 

174.59 .................................. Other specific placarding and marking sections may also be applicable. 
Marking and placarding. A railroad’s placarding duties are to not accept a car without 
placards [§ 172.508(b)], and to not transport a car without placards [§ 174.59]. At each 
inspection point, a railroad must determine that all placards are in place. [§ 174.9]. The 
‘‘next inspection point’’ replacement requirement in this section refers to placards that 
disappear between inspection points. A car at an inspection point must be placarded be-
cause it is ‘‘in transportation’’ [49 U.S.C. 5102(12)], even if held up at that point. Be-
cause the statute creates civil penalty liability only if a violation is ‘‘knowing,’’ that is, ‘‘a 
reasonable person knew or should have known that an act performed by him was in vio-
lation of the HMR,’’ and because railroads are not under a duty to inspect hazardous 
material cars merely standing in a yard, violations written for unplacarded cars in yards 
must include proof that the railroad knew about the unplacarded cars and took no cor-
rective action within a reasonable time. (Note also that the real problem with 
unplacarded cars in a railyard may be a lack of emergency response information, 
§§ 172.600–172.604, and investigation may reveal that those sections should be cited 
instead of this one.) 

—Complete failure to placard or to replace miss-
ing placards.

7,500. 

—One placard missing (per car). (Add $1,000 
per missing placard up to a total of three; then 
use the guideline above).

1,000. 

For other placarding violations, see §§ 172.500–.560 and determine if one of them more 
correctly states the violation. For marking violations, see §§ 172.300–.338 and determine 
if one of them more correctly states the violation. Note that marking violations, except for 
the UN number, are generally applicable to the shipper/offeror. 

174.61 .................................. Improper transportation of transport vehicle or 
freight container on flat car. (If improper lading 
restraint is the violation, see § 174.55; if im-
proper restraint of a bulk packaging inside a 
closed transport vehicle is the violation, see 
§ 174.63(b).).

3,000. 

174.63(a) and (c) ................. —Improper transportation of portable tank or 
other bulk packaging in TOFC/COFC service.

3,000. 

—Portable tank double stacked with container 
above or below. (§ 174.63(c)(5)(i).).

5,000. 

—Portable tank transported in a well car with its 
outlet valve facing inward. (§ 174.63(c)(5)(ii).).

3,000. 

—Portable tank transported without securement 
fittings engaged and locked or void filling de-
vices not properly deployed.

5,000. 

—Improper transportation leading to a release of 
product.

7,500. 

—Improper transportation leading to a release 
and human being contact.

15,000. 

174.63(b) .............................. Improper securement of bulk packaging inside enclosed transport vehicle or freight con-
tainer. 

—General failure to secure .................................. 5,000. 
—Inadequate securement (an attempt to secure 

was made but the means of securement were 
inadequate).

2,500. 

—Inadequate securement leading to a leak ........ 7,500. 
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—Inadequate securement leading to a leak and 
human being contact.

15,000. 

174.63(e) .............................. Transportation of cargo tank or multi-unit tank 
car tank in TOFC or COFC service without au-
thorization and in the absence of an emer-
gency.

7,500. 

174.67(a)(1) ......................... Tank car transloading operations performed by 
persons not properly instructed (case cannot 
be based on inference). (Note: for all 
transloading requirements, there must be clear 
evidence that the hazmat shipment is con-
tinuing in transportation by another mode. For 
example, shipping papers show another des-
tination than the one where the tank car is 
being unloaded/transloaded, and the contents 
of the tank car are being transloaded into a 
highway tank truck. Otherwise, the tank car 
unloading requirements contained in section 
173.31(g) apply).

5,000. 

174.67(a)(2) ......................... Unloading/transloading hazmat without brakes set and/or wheels blocked. (The enforce-
ment standard, as per 1995 Hazardous Materials Technical Resolution Committee, is 
that sufficient handbrakes must be applied on one or more cars to prevent movement 
and each car with a handbrake set must be blocked in both directions. The unloading fa-
cility must make a determination on how many brakes to set.) 

—No brakes set, no wheels blocked, or fewer 
brakes set/wheels blocked than facility’s oper-
ating plan.

5,000. 

—No brakes set, but wheels blocked .................. 3,000. 
—Brakes set, but wheels not blocked .................. 4,000. 

174.67(a)(3) ......................... Unloading/transloading without securing access 
to the track to prevent entry by other rail 
equipment. Derails, lined and blocked switch-
es, or other equipment that provides equiva-
lent level of security is acceptable.

4,000. 

174.67(a)(4) ......................... Unloading/transloading without caution signs 
properly displayed. (See Part 218, Subpart B).

2,000. 

174.67(a)(5) ......................... Failure of transloading facility to maintain written 
safety procedures (such as those it may al-
ready be required to maintain pursuant to the 
Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration requirements in 29 
CFR 1910.119 and 1910.120) in a location 
where they are immediately available to 
hazmat employees responsible for the 
transloading operation.

2,500. 

174.67(c)(2) .......................... Failure to use non-metallic block to prop manway cover open while unloading through 
bottom outlet. 

—Flammable or combustible liquid, or other 
product with a vapor flash point hazard.

3,000. 

—Material with no vapor flammability hazard ...... 500. 
174.67(h) .............................. Insecure unloading connections, resulting in ac-

tual leak of product.
10,000. 

Insecure unloading connections, no leak of prod-
uct.

5,000. 

174.67(i) ............................... Unattended/unmonitored unloading. Tank car 
must be attended by a designated employee 
or monitored by a signaling system.

5,000. 

174.67(j) ............................... Noncompliance with piping requirements ............ 2,000. 

174.67(k) .............................. Failure to comply with requirements for leaving tank car unloading connections attached. 

—Hazardous material with insignificant vapor 
pressure and without classification as ‘‘poison’’ 
or ‘‘inhalation hazard.’’ (One count can be as-
sessed for each element not followed. May 
also assess per tank car if more than one is 
involved in violation)..

2,000. 

—With actual leak ................................................ 5,000. 
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—With leak allowing the product to contact any 
human being.

15,000. 

—Hazardous material with vapor pressure (es-
sentially any gas or compressed gas) and/or 
with classification as ‘‘poison’’ or ‘‘inhalation 
hazard.’’.

5,000. 

—With actual leak ................................................ 7,500. 
—With leak allowing the product (or fumes or va-

pors) to contact any human being). Contact 
with ‘‘fumes’’ must be substantial.

15,000. 

174.67(l) ............................... Failure to remove connections, tighten all valves 
with a ‘‘suitable tool’’ and tighten all other clo-
sures once unloading is complete.

2,000. 

174.81 .................................. —Failure to obey segregation requirements for 
materials forbidden to be stored or transported 
together. (‘‘X’’ in the table).

6,000. 

—Failure to obey segregation requirements for 
materials that must be separated to prevent 
commingling in the event of a leak. (‘‘O’’ in the 
table).

4,000. 

Handling of Placarded Rail Cars, Transport Vehicles and Freight Containers: 

174.83(a) .............................. Improper switching of placarded rail cars ............ 5,000. 
174.83(b) .............................. Improper switching of loaded rail car containing 

Division 1.1/1.2, 2.3 PG I Zone A, or Division 
6.1 PG I Zone A, or DOT 113 tank car plac-
arded for 2.1.

8,000. 

174.83(c)–(e) ........................ Improper switching of placarded flatcar ............... 5,000. 
174.83(f) ............................... Switching Division 1.1/1.2 without a buffer car or 

placement of Division 1.1/1.2 car under a 
bridge or alongside a passenger train or plat-
form.

8,000. 

174.84 .................................. Improper handling of Division 1.1/1.2, 2.3 PG I 
Zone A, 6.1 PG I Zone A in relation to guard 
or escort cars.

4,000. 

174.85 .................................. Improper Train Placement (The unit of violation under this section is the car. Where 
more than one placarded car is involved, e.g., if two (2) placarded cars are too close to 
the engine, both are violations. Where both have a similar violation, e.g., a Division 1.1 
car next to a loaded tank car of a Class 3 material, each car gets the appropriate pen-
alty as listed below) 

RESIDUE car without at least 1 buffer from en-
gine or occupied caboose.

3,000. 

Placard Group 1—Division 1.1/1.2 materials (Class A explosive) See chart at § 174.85. 

—Fewer than six (6) cars (where train length 
permits) from engine or occupied caboose.

8,000. 

—As above but with at least one (1) buffer ......... 7,000. 
—No buffer at all (where train length doesn’t per-

mit five (5) cars).
8,000. 

—Next to open top car or car with permanent 
bulkheads, where lading extends beyond car 
ends/bulkheads or, if shifted, would be beyond 
car ends/bulkheads.

7,000. 

—Next to loaded flat car, except closed TOFC/ 
COFC equipment, auto carriers, specially 
equipped car with tie-down devices.

6,000. 

—Next to operating temperature-control equip-
ment or internal combustion engine in oper-
ation.

7,000. 

—Next to placarded car, except one from same 
placard group or COMBUSTIBLE.

7,000. 

Placard Group 2—Division 1.3/1.4/1.5 (Class B and C explosives); Division 2.1/2.2 (com-
pressed gas, other than Division 2.3, PG 1 Zone A; Class 3 (flammable liquids); Class 4 
(flammable solid); Class 5 (oxidizing materials); Class 6 (poisonous liquids), except 6.1 
PG 1 Zone A; Class 8 (corrosive materials). See chart at § 174.85. 

For tank cars: 
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—Fewer than six (6) cars (where train length 
permits) from engine or occupied caboose.

6,000. 

—As above but with at least one (1) buffer ......... 5,000. 
No buffer at all (where train length doesn’t permit 

five (5)).
6,000. 

—Next to open top car or car with permanent 
bulkheads, where lading extends beyond car 
ends/bulkheads or, if shifted, would be beyond 
car ends/bulkheads.

5,000. 

—Next to loaded flat car, except closed TOFC/ 
COFC equipment, auto carriers, specially 
equipped car with tie-down devices.

5,000. 

—Next to operating temperature-control equip-
ment or internal combustion engine in oper-
ation.

5,000. 

—Next to placarded car, except one from same 
placard group or COMBUSTIBLE.

5,000. 

For other rail cars: 

—Next to placarded car, except one from same 
placard group or COMBUSTIBLE.

5,000. 

Placard Group 3—Divisions 2.3 (PG 1 Zone A; poisonous gases) and 6.1 (PG 1 Zone A; 
poisonous materials). 

For tank cars: 

—Fewer than six (6) cars (where train length 
permits) from engine or occupied caboose.

8,000. 

—As above but with at least one (1) buffer 7,000. 
No buffer at all (where train length doesn’t permit 

five (5)).
8,000. 

—Next to open top car or car with permanent 
bulkheads, where lading extends beyond car 
ends/bulkheads or, if shifted, would be beyond 
car ends/bulkheads.

7,000. 

—Next to loaded flat car, except closed TOFC/ 
COFC equipment, auto carriers, specially 
equipped car with tie-down devices.

6,000. 

—Next to operating temperature-control equip-
ment or internal combustion engine in oper-
ation.

7,000. 

—Next to placarded car, except one from same 
placard group or COMBUSTIBLE.

7,000. 

For other rail cars: 

—Next to placarded car, except one from same 
placard group or COMBUSTIBLE.

5,000. 

Placard Group 4—Class 7 (radioactive) materials 

For rail cars: 

—Next to locomotive or occupied caboose ......... 8,000. 
—Next to placarded car, except one from same 

placard group or COMBUSTIBLE.
5,000. 

—Next to carload of undeveloped film ................. 3,000. 

174.86 .................................. Exceeding maximum allowable operating speed 
(15 mph) while transporting molten metals or 
molten glass.

3,000. 

Class 1 (Explosive) Materials: 

174.101(o)(4) ....................... Failure to have proper explosives placards on flatcar carrying trailers/containers plac-
arded for Class 1. (Except for a complete failure to placard, the unit of violation is the 
placard.) 

—Complete failure to placard ............................... 7,500. 
—One placard missing (add $1,000 per missing 

placard up to a total of three, then use the 
guideline above).

1,000. 
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174.104(b) ............................ Car used to transport Division 1.1 or 1.2 mate-
rials does not meet requirements. (Aggravation 
to be considered, and may be considerable, 
for multiple failures to meet requirements.).

5,000. 

174.104(c) ............................ Failure to inspect and certify car before placing 
for loading with Division 1.1 or 1.2 materials.

7,500. 

174.104(e) ............................ Failure to supervise the loading and securement 
of a container (of Division 1.1 or 1.2 materials) 
on a flat car and failure to certify the car. (Unit 
of violation is the container.).

5,000. 

174.104(f) ............................. Failure to retain car certificates at ‘‘forwarding 
station.’’.

1,000. 

Failure to attach car certificates to car. (Unit of 
violation is the certificate, two (2) are re-
quired.) 

1,000. 

Detailed Requirements for Class 2 (Gases) Materials: 

174.204 ................................ Improper tank car delivery of gases (Class 2 ma-
terials).

3,000. 

Detailed Requirements for Class 3 (Flammable Liquid) Materials: 

174.304 ................................ Improper tank car delivery of flammable liquids 
(Class 3 materials).

3,000. 

Detailed Requirements for Division 6.1 (Poisonous) Materials: 

174.600 ................................ Improper tank car delivery of materials extremely 
poisonous by inhalation (Division 2.3 Zone A 
or 6.1 Zone A materials).

5,000. 

PART 178—SPECIFICATIONS FOR PACKAGINGS 

178.2(b) .............................................. Package not constructed according to specifications—also cite specific section not com-
plied with. 

—Bulk packages, including portable tanks .......... 8,000. 
—55-gallon drum .................................................. 2,500. 
—Smaller package ............................................... 1,000. 

PART 179—SPECIFICATIONS FOR TANK CARS 

179.1(e) .............................................. Tank car not constructed according to specifica-
tions—also cite section not complied with. 
(Part 179 violations are against the builder or 
repairer. Sections in this Part are often cited in 
conjunction with violations of §§ 172.330 and 
173.31(a) and (b) by shippers. In such cases, 
the part 179 sections are cited as references, 
not as separate alleged violations.).

8,000. 

179.3 ................................................... Constructing tank car without securing approval 
from Tank Car Committee.

10,000. 

179.5(a) .............................................. Failure to furnish a Certificate of Construction 
before tank car is placed in service.

7,500. 

179.6 ................................................... Repair procedures not in compliance with Ap-
pendix R of the Tank Car Manual.

10,000. 

179.7 ................................................... Section 179.7 requires that each tank car facility have a quality assurance (QA) program 
that encompasses at least the elements in § 179.7(b). A tank car facility is an entity that 
manufactures, repairs, inspects, tests, qualifies, or maintains a tank car to ensure that 
the tank car conforms to parts 179 and 180, or alters the certificate of construction of the 
car. As a rule, a facility ‘‘qualifies’’ a tank by ‘‘inspecting’’ it and then ‘‘representing’’ it as 
meeting the standard. In addition to the following penalty amounts, the agency may ‘‘re-
call’’ all tanks qualified by the tank car facility during the period the facility failed to com-
ply with the quality assurance requirements. See, for example, § 180.509(b)(4). 

Total failure to have a quality assurance program 15,000. 
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Failure to perform activities as a tank car facility 
other than in accordance with the quality as-
surance program. See 180.509(l) for applica-
bility to tank car maintenance activities. Note 
that failures to perform ministerial activities 
such as updating the pages in a quality assur-
ance manual or calibrating an instrument carry 
a lesser penalty (e.g. $2,500), unless they are 
the cause of a release or an injury or death.

10,000. 

The quality assurance program does not contain 
one or more of the elements in § 179.7(b). 
(The ‘‘element’’ is the unit of violation.).

7,500. 

Failure to provide written procedures to its em-
ployees.

7,500. 

Use of an employee to perform nondestructive 
testing on a tank when that employee does 
not have the qualifications for that type of non-
destructive testing.

10,000. 

179.11 ................................................ Use of an employee to perform welding on a 
tank when that employee does not have the 
qualifications for that type of welding proce-
dure. Note: also reference §§ 179.100–9, 
179.200–10, 179.220–10, 179.300–9, and 
179.400–11 as appropriate.

10,000. 

179.13 ................................................ Tank cars may not be built or converted to ex-
ceed 34,500 gallons capacity or 263,000 
pounds gross weight on rail. This is the build-
ing specification only; for tank cars loaded be-
yond capacity or gross weight see 173.26.

Varies. See 173.26 for overloaded 
cars. 

179.15 ................................................ Pressure relief device (e.g. rupture disc) that 
does not conform to the requirements (loaded 
car). May also cite 173.31(d).

5,000. 

179.201–3(a) ...................................... Failure to properly line a rubber-lined tank car .... 7,500. 
179.201–3(b) ...................................... Three possible violations under this section: 5,000. 

(1) Failure to produce report certifying that tank 
car and its equipment have been brought into 
compliance with specification. Must occur prior 
to lining tank car with rubber or rubber com-
pound.

(2) Failure of tank car liner to provide copy of re-
port and certification that tank has been lined 
in compliance with specs to tank car owner.

(3) Failure of tank car owner to retain reports of 
latest lining application until next re-lining has 
been accomplished and recorded.

PART 180—CONTINUING QUALIFICATION AND MAINTENANCE OF PACKAGINGS 

180 ..................................................... Part 180 prescribes the requirements applicable to any person that manufactures, fab-
ricates, marks, maintains, repairs, inspects, or services tank cars to ensure that the tank 
cars are in proper condition for transportation. In addition to the following penalty 
amounts, the agency may ‘‘recall’’ all tanks qualified by the tank car facility during the 
period the facility failed to comply with the quality assurance requirements. See, for ex-
ample, § 180.509(b)(4). 

180.505 .............................................. This section brings the quality assurance requirements of § 179.7 (car construction) into 
the tank car maintenance arena. See § 179.7 for penalty guidelines, cite this section and 
reference the applicable paragraph(s) or subparagraph(s). No dual penalty will apply. 
(Part 180 applies the construction standards of Part 179 to service life maintenance and 
requalification of tank cars.) 

Tank car specific provisions: 

180.509(a) ............................ Failure to comply with requirements for inspection and test. 

—Failure to mark a car passing a periodic in-
spection and test.

See § 180.515. 

—Failure to prepare written report for inspection 
and test performed under this section.

See § 180.517. 

180.509(b) ............................ Failure to perform inspection and test when at 
least one of the qualifying conditions has been 
met.

5,000. 

180.509(c) ............................ Failure to perform inspection and test at speci-
fied interval.

5,000. 
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180.509(d) ............................ Failure to properly perform visual inspection ....... 7,500. 
180.509(e) ............................ Failure to properly perform structural integrity in-

spection and test.
10,000. 

180.509(f) ............................. Failure to properly perform thickness test ............ 10,000. 
180.509(h) ............................ Failure to properly inspect safety systems ........... 7,500. 
180.509(i) ............................. Failure to properly perform lining and coating in-

spection and test.
10,000. 

180.509(j) ............................. Failure to properly perform leakage pressure test 7,500. 
180.509(l) ............................. Failure to perform inspection and test in accord-

ance with the quality assurance program. (Ap-
plies to all non-DOT specification tank cars as 
of July 1, 2000, but see § 180.509(l)(3) for 
‘‘20-year’’ cars. See also § 179.7(f).).

10,000. 

180.513 ................................ Failure to repair the tank according to Appendix 
R of the AAR Tank Car Manual.

10,000. 

Use of an employee to perform welding on a 
tank when that employee does not have the 
qualifications for that type of welding proce-
dure.

10,000. 

180.515 ................................ Failure to mark the tank as required .................... 7,500. 
180.517 ................................ Failure to report, record, and retain required doc-

umentation.
7,500. 

Provisions for tank cars other than single unit tank car tanks: 

180.519(a) ............................ Failure to retest at required interval ..................... Cite 180.519(b)(5). 
180.519(b)(1) ....................... Failure to perform hydrostatic pressure/expan-

sion test as required.
7,500. 

180.519(b)(2) ....................... Failure to perform interior air pressure test as re-
quired.

7,500. 

180.519(b)(3) ....................... Failure to test pressure relief valves as required 7,500. 
180.519(b)(4) ....................... Failure to remove and inspect frangible discs 

and fusible plugs.
5,000. 

180.519(b)(5) ....................... Failure to retest at required interval ..................... 3,000. 
180.519(b)(6) ....................... Failure to stamp tank as required ........................ 5,000. 
180.519(c) ............................ Failure to visually inspect as required .................. 5,000. 

Failure to use competent persons to perform vis-
ual inspection.

5,000. 

180.519(d) ............................ Failure to record and retain documentation. Miti-
gate/aggravate depending on the extent of the 
violation.

7,500. 

2 A person who knowingly violates the hazardous material transportation law or a regulation, order, special permit, or approval 
issued thereunder, is subject to a civil penalty of up to $75,000 for each violation, except that the maximum civil penalty for a 
violation is $175,000 if the violation results in death, serious illness, or severe injury to any person or substantial destruction of 
property; and a minimum $450 civil penalty applies to a violation related to training. Each day that the violation continues is a 
separate offense. 49 U.S.C. 5123; 28 U.S.C. 2461, note. 

[61 FR 38647, July 25, 1996, as amended at 69 FR 30591, May 28, 2004; 71 FR 77295, Dec. 26, 2006; 
73 FR 72200, Nov. 26, 2008; 73 FR 79701, Dec. 30, 2008; 75 FR 43842, July 27, 2010; 77 FR 24419, 
Apr. 24, 2012; 78 FR 9847, Feb. 12, 2013] 

APPENDIX C TO PART 209—FRA’S POLICY 
STATEMENT CONCERNING SMALL EN-
TITIES 

This policy statement required by the 
Small Business Regulatory Enforcement 
Fairness Act of 1996 (Pub. L. 104–121) 
(SBREFA) explains FRA’s communication 
and enforcement policies concerning small 
entities subject to the federal railroad safety 
laws. These policies have been developed to 
take into account the unique concerns and 
operations of small businesses in the admin-
istration of the national railroad safety pro-
gram, and will continue to evolve to meet 
the needs of the railroad industry. For pur-
poses of this policy statement, the Regu-
latory Flexibility Act (5 U.S.C. 601, et seq.), 

and the ‘‘excessive demand’’ provisions of 
the Equal Justice Act (5 U.S.C. 504 (a)(4), and 
28 U.S.C. 2412 (d)(1)(D)), Class III railroads, 
contractors and hazardous materials ship-
pers meeting the economic criteria estab-
lished for Class III railroads in 49 CFR 1201.1– 
1, and commuter railroads or small govern-
mental jurisdictions that serve populations 
of 50,000 or less constitute the class of orga-
nizations considered ‘‘small entities’’ or 
‘‘small businesses.’’ 

FRA understands that small entities in the 
railroad industry have significantly different 
characteristics than larger carriers and ship-
pers. FRA believes that these differences ne-
cessitate careful consideration in order to 
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